027
w/ app

1-4-93

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 11 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES HOWARD GIPSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

:

Case No. 80,367

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CECILIA A. TRAINA
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 865729

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000 -- Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner **was** the Appellant in the **second** District Court of Appeal and the defendant **in** the trial **court**. Respondent, the State of Florida was the Appellee in the **second** District Court of Appeal. The record on appeal, which was utilized on the District **Court** level, will referred to by the symbol "R" followed **by** the **appropri-**
ate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Trial court case numbers 88-16584, 89-7962, 90-16715, and 90-17327 were appealed together in the instant case.

88-16584

On December 17, 1988, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an information charging the Petitioner, CHARLES HOWARD GIPSON, with one count of robbery, contrary to section 812.13, Florida Statutes (1987). (R 9-10) This offense allegedly occurred on October 15, 1988. (R 9)

On December 14, 1988, Mr. Gipson pled guilty to robbery. (R 11-12) The trial court placed Mr. Gipson on five years probation. (R 16-17) The sentencing guidelines recommended a sentence of any nonstate prison sanction. (R 13-14)

On July 31, 1989, the trial court revoked Mr. Gipson's probation (R 27) and sentenced him to 2 1/2 years Florida state prison to be followed by five years probation. (R 24-25)

On March 29, 1991, the trial court revoked Mr. Gipson's probation (R 124-125) and sentenced him to nine years Florida state prison, to run consecutively with the sentence in case number 90-17327. (R 38-39, 290-291) The guideline scoresheet permitted a sentence of 4 1/2 to 9 years imprisonment. (R 117, 288)

89-7962

On June 7, 1989, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an information charging Mr. Gipson with one count of delivery of

cocaine, contrary to section 893.13 (1)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). (R 47-48) This alleged offense occurred on May 5, 1989. (R 47)

On June 30, 1989, Mr. Gipson pled guilty as charged. (R 49-50) On July 31, 1989, the trial court **placed** Mr. Gipson on five years probation, to run concurrently with case number 88-16584. (R 51-52)

On March 29, 1991, the trial court revoked Mr. Gipson's probation (124-125), and sentenced him to nine **years** Florida state prison, to run concurrently with case number 88-16584. (R 63-64, 290-291) The guideline scoresheet permitted a sentence of 4 1/2 to 9 years imprisonment. (R 117, 288)

90-16715

On November 19, 1990, the State Attorney **for** the Thirteenth Judicial **Circuit** in and for Hillsborough **County**, Florida, filed an information charging Mr. Gipson with one count of delivery of cocaine, contrary to section 893.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), and one count of possession of cocaine, contrary to section 893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1989). (R 73-74) These alleged offenses occurred on August 3, 1990. (R 73) On November 27, 1990, the trial court signed a notice of intent to treat Mr. Gipson as an habitual felony offender. (R 110) On December 4, 1990, the trial court notified Mr. Gipson that it intended to treat him as an habitual felony offender. (R 111)

On February 26 and 27, 1991, Mr. Gipson was tried before a jury. (R 127-200) On February 27, 1991, the jury convicted Mr. Gipson of both charges, (R 113, 114, 197) On March 29, 1991, the trial court adjudicated Mr. Gipson guilty and sentenced him to

thirty years Florida state prison **as** an habitual felony offender **for** delivery of cocaine, and ten years Florida state prison as an habitual felony offender for possession of cocaine, to run consecutively. (R84-88, 290) The sentencing guidelines scoresheet permitted a sentence of 4 1/2 to 9 years imprisonment. (R 117, 288)

90-17327

On November 29, 1990, the State Attorney **for** the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and **for** Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an information charging Mr. Gipson with one count of delivery of cocaine, contrary to section 893.13 (1)(a) , Florida Statutes (1989). (R 94-95) This alleged offense occurred on October 30, 1990. (R 94) On December 4, 1990, the trial court signed and filed a notice of intent to treat Mr. Gipson as an habitual felony offender. (R 111)

On February 26, 1991, Mr. Gipson was tried by a jury. (R 201-285) The jury convicted Mr. Gipson as charged. (R 112, 282) On March 29, 1991, the trial court adjudicated Mr. Gipson guilty (R 106-107, 290), and sentenced him to thirty years Florida state prison **as** an habitual felony offender, to run consecutively to his case number 90-16715. (R 108-109, 290) The sentencing guideline scoresheet permitted a sentence of 4 1/2 to 9 **years** imprisonment. (R 117, 288)

On April 4, 1991, Mr. Gipson filed a timely notice of appeal for all four cases. (R 118)

On appeal, Mr. Gipson raised three issues: (1)the sentencing of Mr. Gipson where the trial judge signed and filed notice of

intent to treat Mr. Gipson as an habitual felony offender, (2) imposition of consecutive habitualized sentences upon Mr. Gipson, and (3) running Mr. Gipson's guideline sentences consecutive to Mr. Gipson's habitual felony offender sentences scored on the same guideline scoresheet. **The Second District Court of Appeal rejected all three arguments in its June 19, 1992, decision. Upon rehearing, the court affirmed the lower court decision on the basis of Boomer v. State, 596 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), pending, 79,638; however noted that its decision was contrary to a decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Wood v. State, 593 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), held that imposing a guidelines sentence consecutively to a non-guidelines sentence was not a guidelines departure. Boomer.**

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A guidelines departure occurs when the trial court imposes a guidelines sentence to run consecutively to other habitualized sentences scored on the same guidelines scoresheet.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RUNNING APPELLANT'S GUIDELINES SENTENCES CONSECUTIVE TO APPELLANT'S HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCES SCORED ON THE SAME GUIDELINES SCORESHEET?

The issue of whether a guidelines departure sentence occurs when a defendant is sentenced for both a guidelines and a non-guidelines offense and the sentences are run consecutively has become an issue of conflict among at least two Florida Courts.

The Second District Court of Appeals determined in the present case, a trial judge, on a probation revocation sentence, could run a guidelines sentence consecutively to other habitualized sentences scored on the same guidelines scoresheet and that such a sentence was not a departure. The Court did not discuss its reasons for this holding, but on rehearing only noted that the decision was in accord with Boomer v. State, 596 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), pending and that it was contrary to the recent opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Wood v. State, 593 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

In Wood, the defendant was sentenced to a total of eighty years of imprisonment on two felony counts pursuant to the habitual offender statute. He then received a guidelines life sentence which was imposed to run consecutively to the two other offenses. The Fifth District Court of Appeals held that running the guidelines life sentences consecutive to the habitual offender enhanced

offense constituted a guidelines departure. The Court determined that in running the life sentence consecutive to the eighty year sentence the life sentence would not commence to run until the defendant had served the eighty year sentence thus, the defendant would ultimately serve more than **life** on the guidelines sentence.

The logic employed in Wood is correct. The repeatedly stated purpose and goal of the sentencing guidelines is uniformity in sentencing. Branam v. State, 554 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1990). Departures from the recommended guidelines range, absent valid written reasons, are not allowed. Williams v. State, 492 So. 2d 1308 (Fla. 1986). In this vain, when the recommended guidelines sentence is life imprisonment, a trial court may not impose consecutive sentences without providing written reasons for departure. Rease v. State, 493 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1986). The desire to maintain consistency in sentencing is also reflected in the requirement that concurrent or consecutive sentences, whichever is closer to the recommended guidelines range, must be imposed where statutory maximums or minimums preclude sentencing within the applicable guidelines range. Branam.

Clearly there is a distinction between cases where all of the counts before the court for sentencing are scoreable under the guidelines and those cases where some of the counts are non-scoreable such as capital felonies, or are removed from the guidelines limitations through the application of the habitual offender statute. In cases where **all** of the counts are encompassed by the guidelines a departure sentence is easy to discern, Any

overall period of incarceration which is less than or exceeds the guidelines range is a departure. In cases where both guidelines and non-guidelines counts are present a departure sentence should be no less discernible. If trial courts are required to run multiple counts concurrently or consecutively to best approximate the guideline range, so too should they be required to run guidelines and non-guidelines counts concurrently or consecutively, if applicable, to reflect the guidelines range.

In instances where a person is sentenced for both capital or habitualized felonies and non-capital felonies a departure sentence occurs when the guidelines sentence is run consecutively to the sentences imposed for the non-guidelines counts. In such cases, the guidelines sentence does not commence to run until the non-guidelines sentence has been serve. Thus, as in the present case, a person given a habitualized sentence may not begin the service of his guidelines sentence until a minimum number of years has passed which **exceeds** the maximum number of years in the guidelines range. In this case the maximum under the guidelines is 9 years. This sentencing scheme is in complete opposition with the stated desire of having a defendant sentenced as close to the recommended guidelines range **as** possible. The sentences in such cases should be structured to run concurrently. The decision of the Second District Court of Appeals should be rejected and the analysis in Wood, supra, which is consistent with the purpose of the sentencing guidelines and should be adopted by this court.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, the Second District Court of Appeals decision on the Petitioner's case should be reversed and the case remanded for sentencing within the guidelines.

NOT FINAL UNTIL TIME EXPIRES TO FILE REHEARING
MOTION AND, IF FILED, DETERMINED.

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

CHARLES HOWARD GIPSON,
Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 90-01177

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

Opinion filed July 24, 1992.

Appeal from the Circuit Court
for Hillsborough County;
Harry Lee Coe, 111, Judge.

James Marion Moorman, Public
Defender, and Timothy A.
Hickey, Assistant Public
Defender, Bartow, for
Appellant.

Robert A. Butterworth, Attorney
General, Tallahassee, and
Katherine V. Blanco, Assistant
Attorney General, Tampa, for
Appellee.

PER CURIAM.

Affirmed. See Boomer v. State, 596 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2d
DCA 1992); contra Wood v. State, 593 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 5th DCA
1992).

SCHOONOVER, A.C.J., and HALL and THREADGILL, JJ., Concur.