095

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CHARLES HOWARD CIPSON,

Petitioner,

1 00 1 0 1 0 1 0 1

CASE NO. 80,367

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 327832
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant/Petitioner, CHARLES HOWARD GIPSON, was the defendant before the trial court and the Appellee/Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to by their proper names or as they appeared before the trial court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The sentence imposed was appropriate and was not an upward The habitual offender (HFO) sentence is an departure sentence. alternative option the legislature has made available to meet the broad spectrum of sentencing needs. The HFO sentence is designed to deal with the "career criminal." The legislature has made it a priority to sentence HFO's to extended terms of incarceration. It is on this rationale that Wood, infra, is unsound. The guidelines are inapplicable to HFO sentences. A quidelines sentence imposed consecutively to an HFO sentence enforces the legislative intent of extended terms for HFOs. The Second District Court's decision in Boomer is correct and is supported by the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Skeens, infra.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DEFENDANT'S GUIDELINE SENTENCE WAS NOT AN UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE BECAUSE HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCES ARE REMOVED FROM SENTENCING GUIDELINES AND IT IS **HABITUAL** LEGISLATIVE INTENT THAT **OFFENDERS SERVE EXTENDED PERIODS** INCARCERATION SO THAT IMPOSING A GUIDELINES SENTENCE CONSECUTIVELY TO A HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE EFFECTUATES THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT.

The instant case involves the identical issue pending before this Honorable Court in <u>Boomer v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), [Florida Supreme Court Case #79,638, oral argument scheduled, February 5, 1993].

The trial court did not err in imposing a guidelines sentence to run consecutively to the non-guidelines habitual offender sentence. The HFO sentence is an alternative option that the legislature has made available to meet the broad spectrum of sentencing needs. As opposed to the ordinary guidelines sentence, the HFO sentence is designed to deal with the "career criminal." Section 775.0841, Florida Statutes (1991) expresses the legislative findings and intent regarding the sentencing of career criminals:

The Legislature hereby finds that a substantial and disproportionate number of serious crimes is committed in Florida by a relatively small number of multiple and repeat felony offenders, commonly known as career criminals. The Legislature further finds that priority should be given to the investigation, apprehension, and prosecution of career criminals in the use of law enforcement

resources and to the incarceration of career criminals in the use of available prison space. The Legislature intends to initiate and support increased efforts by state and local law enforcement agencies and state attorneys' offices to investigate, apprehend, and prosecute career criminals and to incarcerate them for extended terms.

As is readily apparent, the Florida Legislature has expressed its intent to "crack down" on career criminals on its finding that a substantial and disproportionate number of crimes are committed by career criminals. It is the legislative intent, therefore, that criminals meeting the definition of an HFO be incarcerated for extended terms for the protection of the public.

It is on the preceding rationale that Wood v. State, 593 So.2d 557 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) is unsound. In 1988, section 775.084, Florida Statutes, was amended by the legislature adding a new subsection which expressly removed HFO sentences from the sentencing quidelines. The statute was further amended in 1989, but the language of new subsection (4)(9) was retained. effect of the 1988 amendment was to remove HFO sentences from the sentencing quidelines. Owens v. State, 560 So. 2d 1260,1261 (Fla. lst DCA 1990). See also Bateman v. State, 566 So.2d 358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); State v. Davis, 559 So.2d 1279 (2d DCA 1990), receded from on other grounds, 597 So.2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); King v. State, 557 So.2d 899 (5th DCA), review denied, 564 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1990). The 1988 amendment became effective on October 1, 1988. West v. State, 571 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Owen, 560 So.2d at 1261.

As the legislature specifically made HFO sentences exempt from the guidelines, it can be inferred that the intent is for a guidelines sentence to run consecutively to an HFO sentence. Otherwise, the HFO defendant would not be subject to the extended term of incarceration intended by the legislature. This interpretation is supported by section 921.16 (1), Florida Statutes (1991) which provides that "[s]entences of imprisonment for offenses not charged in the same indictment, information, or affidavit shall be served consecutively unless the court directs that two or more sentences be served concurrently." That probationary terms for two offenses were concurrent does not mandate concurrent sentences when probation is violated. Ellis v. State, 406 So.2d 76,78 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981).

The record indicates the defendant is well-deserving of his consecutive sentences because of his conduct subsequent to originally being placed on probation. It is the defendant's conduct in light of events subsequent to the initial probation that allows the trial court to impose any sentence it might have originally imposed. As the Fifth Circuit has stated:

[w]hen a greater sentence is imposed upon the revocation of probation, it can be based upon the defendant's subsequent conduct demonstrating his lack of amenability to reform.

Williams v. Wainwright, 650 F.2d 58,61 (5th Cir. 1981). The Florida Supreme Court has concurred in Scott v. State, 326 So.2d 165,166 (Fla.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 836 (1976); see also State v. Payne, 404 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1981).

The uniform set of standards established to guide trial judges and reduce subjectivity in sentencing is in contrast with the purposes of HFO sentencing, which provides the trial judge with a completely different sentencing structure to meet different sentencing needs are the extended incarceration of repeat felony offenders committing substantial and disproportionate numbers of crimes. These criminals continue to commit crimes despite previous sentences under the guidelines or they have failed to reform despite being given the grace of probation.

The soundness of the Second District Court's decision in Boomer v. State, 596 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) is supported by this court's decision in Skeens v. State, 556 So.2d 1113 (Fla. In Skeens, the defendant pled guilty to being a felon in possession of a firearm and carrying a concealed firearm. trial court sentenced him to two years community control to be followed by ten years probation on the first charge, and time served on the second. On appeal, Skeens argued that stacking community control and probation was improper because the clear legislative intent underlying chapters 921 and 948 is that these types of sentences are alternative dispositions and could not be imposed in tandem. This court rejected Skeens' argument, noting that "[p]robation, community control, and incarceration are alternative options that the legislature has made available to meet the broad spectrum of sentencing needs. Each involves different procedures and restrictions. We see no reason why probation and community control cannot be stacked to meet individualized sentencing circumstances." Id. at 1113, 1114.

As in Skeens, guidelines probation, guidelines community control, quidelines incarceration, HFO probation, and HFO incarceration are alternative options that the legislature and the courts, through decisional law, have made available to meet the broad spectrum of sentencing needs. Each is somewhat different from the other. Recognizing this fact, it was not improper to order that the defendant's guidelines sentence be served consecutively to his non-quidelines HFO sentence. It more closely follows the intent of the legislature regarding the treatment of those criminals designated habitual offenders. statute and case law, the trial court clearly has the discretion to order concurrent or consecutive sentences. §775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes. Mandatory non-guidelines sentences take precedence. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(9). Imposing the guidelines sentences to run consecutive to the HFO sentence was not improper. See also, Ricardo v. State, 17 F.L.W. D2481 (Fla. 2 DCA Case #91-02760, Opinion filed October 28, 1992) [A nonquidelines sentence (habitual offender sentence) is not to be considered when calculating the maximum guidelines sentence.]

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the decision of the Second District Court should be affirmed.